

Ageing and avoidable blindness

World population ageing and the value of sight for older people.

Summary

According to the United Nations, the world population will soon reach a new juncture: by the year 2020 there will be more people aged 65 plus years in the world than children younger than 5 years. ^{(1) (2)} This trend toward population ageing is building global attention on the health, productivity and wellbeing of older people, in order to avoid excess pressure on national health systems and economies. ⁽³⁾

As vision loss is a leading cause of disability among older people, and much of this vision loss can be prevented or treated, the global eye health sector has an important role in meeting the challenges of world population ageing. Older people in low and middle income countries are a main beneficiary of the global campaign to eliminate avoidable blindness: half of the people currently living with avoidable blindness are aged 70 years or older, and most of them live in poor regions of the world. ⁽⁴⁾

Eye health care and surgery to restore vision is a costeffective method to avoid disability and maintain a person's health, productivity, family life and social participation. ⁽⁵⁾ The combined effort of the global eye health sector has already avoided the

Key facts and figures

- Vision loss is the most common disability among older people worldwide. ^{(7) (8)}
- Globally, there are 901 million people aged 60 years or older, representing 12.3% of the world population. ⁽²⁾
- 590 million older people live in low and middle income countries, forecast to grow to nearly 1 billion by 2030. ⁽²⁾
- Of the world's estimated 32.4 million blind population, 33% are aged 50-69 years and another 52% are aged 70 years and over. ⁽⁴⁾
- An estimated 16.8 million people aged 70 or older are affected by blindness and 70 million are affected by moderate and severe visual impairment.⁽⁴⁾
- 86% of older people with blindness live in low and middle income countries. ⁽²³⁾
- While eye disease is more common as people age, blindness is not inevitable – as much as 80% of blindness is caused by eye diseases that could have been prevented or could be treated, to avoid vision loss and blindness. ⁽⁴⁶⁾

burden of blindness for millions of people over the past twenty years. ^{(6) (4)} There remain, however, significant challenges to ending avoidable blindness and its impact on the health and productivity of an ageing world population.

The purpose of this brief is to explain the relationship between vision loss and ageing; highlight the impact of world population ageing on global blindness; and outline the role of eye health care for healthy ageing.

Sydney: Locked Bag 5021, Alexandria NSW 2015, Australia Melbourne: 52 Barry St, Carlton VIC 3053, Australia ABN 4607 0556 642 | www.hollows.org | fhf@hollows.org

Contents

Relationship between vision loss and ageing
Prevalence of vision loss and ageing
World population ageing and vision loss
Increasing longevity, healthy life expectancy and eye health4
Impact of vision loss on older people5
Barriers for older people in accessing eye health care
Chronic disease, vision loss and healthy ageing 6
Gender, ageing and eye health7
Benefits of eye health care to healthy ageing7
Aged care residential facilities and eye health 8
Conclusion8
Bibliography

What age is older?

This brief uses the term "older people" to generally refer to people aged 60 years or older, unless otherwise stated.

In high income countries, terms like "older" and "ageing" are often associated with the retirement age of around 65 years and over. However, the World Health Organisation (WHO) has recognised that this may not always be appropriate for low income countries where life expectancy is lower.

Earlier advice from WHO suggested 50 plus years as an appropriate marker of "ageing" for many countries in Africa. ^{(10) (50)} However, recent progress in worldwide life expectancy can be seen by an increase in the average life expectancy in Africa to 60 years, ⁽¹⁴⁾ suggesting that this may now be a more useful marker for discussions on ageing.

The vast majority of population studies of blindness and vision loss are conducted among people aged 50 years and older; the age from which eye disease becomes most prevalent. ⁽⁴⁾

What is population ageing and population growth?

Population ageing generally describes the situation where the proportion of older people in a population is increasing compared to younger people. This occurs through declining fertility, meaning fewer younger people, combined with increasing life expectancy, meaning older people survive for longer. ⁽¹⁴⁾ Note that the total population size of both younger and older people continues to grow, as the proportion changes. Thus, the reality of world population ageing includes a growing number of older people.



Relationship between vision loss and ageing

Vision loss is the most common cause of disability among older people worldwide, particularly in low and middle income countries (LMICs). ^{(7) (8)} Figure 1 illustrates the size of the impact of vision loss, from various eye diseases, compared to other causes of disability.

Eye disease is more common as people grow older, and ageing is a significant "risk factor" for eye diseases. Refractive error and cataract are the leading causes of blindness and visual impairment amongst older people in LMICs, as illustrated in figure 2, despite each being easily treated with glasses or inexpensive surgery.⁽⁷⁾

Age is also a risk factor for diabetes and its vision related complication, diabetic retinopathy. The risk of visual impairment and blindness rises with the number of years of lived with diabetes and around 75% of people who have had diabetes for 20 years or more will experience some form of diabetic retinopathy. ⁽⁹⁾

Vision is an important part of healthy and active ageing. The loss of vision is associated with poor health outcomes, less social participation, reduced independence and increased anxiety and depression. ^{(10) (11)} Vision impairment is associated with decreased life expectancy among older people, even in high income countries. ⁽¹²⁾







Figure 2: Global causes of vision loss ⁽⁷⁾

Prevalence of vision loss and ageing

The prevalence of vision loss is much higher in older people and rises sharply beyond the age of 50 to 60 years, as illustrated in figure 3. The global prevalence of blindness is 4.2% for males aged 70 and older, and slightly higher for females of the same age at 5.3%. ⁽⁴⁾

The burden of eye disease is greatest in older people living in poor regions, without adequate access to eye health care prevention and treatment services. The prevalence of blindness amongst adults aged 50 years and over is greater than 4% in regions throughout



Figure 3: The age-standardised prevalence of blindness or moderate and severe visual impairment (MSVI) rises sharply after the age of 50 years. Source: GBD 2010, Appendix B ⁽⁴⁾



Africa and South Asia. This compares to a prevalence of just 0.4% or less in high income regions. ⁽⁴⁾ Similarly, the prevalence of moderate and severe visual impairment (MSVI) amongst adults aged 50 years and over is around 16% in regions of Africa and 24% in South Asia, compared to less than 5% in high income regions. ⁽⁴⁾

World population ageing and vision loss

There is a global trend toward population ageing, a result of increased life expectancy and decreased birth rate in most regions of the world. Globally there are 901 million older people, aged 60 years and older, two-thirds of whom live in LMICs. By 2030, the number of older people in LMICs is expected to grow to nearly one billion people, of which 420 million will be aged 70 years and over. ⁽²⁾

As cataract and other eye diseases are more likely to occur during ageing, the growing world population of older people will produce a continual need for eye care services in all countries of the world. These services will need to be maintained and scaled to meet the challenge of a rising older population with age-related eye disease, to avoid a growing backlog of avoidable blindness. ⁽¹³⁾

Analysis of the Global Burden of Disease study 2010 (GBD) illustrates the impact of population ageing and growth on global blindness, and provides support for the role of the eye health sector in healthy ageing. The GBD shows that, without the combined efforts of the global eye health sector, population ageing would have accounted for 30% of the likely increase in the global number of people who are blind over the period 1990 to 2010.⁽⁴⁾ This concept is illustrated in figure 4 below.

Fortunately, several decades of investment and action to tackle the backlog of avoidable blindness and improve the availability of eye care services has been fruitful. The end result has been that the eye care sector has stayed on top of the combined effects of age-related eye diseases and population growth and ageing. The GBD results show that the global *number* of blind stayed fairly stable over the twenty year period, despite an increased number of older people. ^{(6) (4)} There remain significant inequities in eye health care between countries and regions, as well as emerging challenges such as diabetic retinopathy; the need to scale up blindness prevention programs in LMICs is paramount to future health of ageing populations.



Figure 4: Columns 3 estimates what would have been the likely impact of population ageing and growth on the number of blind and visually impaired worldwide by the year 2010, if there had not been concerted effort to prevent and treat eye diseases such as cataract. The 2010 actual numbers appear in columns 4 of each graph. Based on the Global Burden of Disease Study, 2010. ⁽⁴⁾

Increasing longevity, healthy life expectancy and eye health

As mentioned previously, one of the factors that has contributed to population ageing is the increase in life expectancy, or the extension of the number of years of life. Average global life expectancy has risen by three years over the past couple of decades to 70 years. Africa has experienced the largest increase in life expectancy over the past 15 years, rising six years from 54 years to 60 years. Life expectancy in Africa is expected to reach 70 years by 2045-2050 largely due to improvements in health, particularly prevention and treatment of HIV. ⁽¹⁴⁾

For those who survive to older age, the life expectancy beyond 60 years has also lengthened, and



people are likely to live another 20.65 years beyond their sixtieth birthday. $^{\rm (15)}$

Longevity after the sixtieth birthday differs from region to region. Life expectancy after 60 years is 17.2 years in low income countries, 19.3 in middle income countries and 23.7 years for people in high income countries. Life expectancy after the seventieth birthday is 10.7 years, 12.4 and 16.0 in low, middle and high income countries respectively. ⁽¹⁵⁾

Overall, more people worldwide are living until 60 and those who do can look forward to more years of life ahead of them, than people in the past.

Despite increasing longevity, there are signs that life expectancy is growing faster than *healthy life expectancy*. The GBD data shows that for every year gained in life expectancy, only around three-quarters of a year was gained in *healthy life expectancy*. People are living longer, but a good part of these extra years will be in ill-health or disability. ⁽¹⁶⁾

As life expectancy increases in most countries around the world there is a need to ensure that the extra years lived are done so at the highest level of health and wellbeing possible, to avoid excess burden of illness and disability on individuals, families and national health systems. Many non-communicable diseases, including eye disease, heart disease and diabetes are more prevalent among older people. ⁽¹⁶⁾ ^{(3) (17)}

People's longevity after sixty and seventy years is important for eye health care planners because, as previously discussed, this is the age from when the incidence of eye disease begins to grow and the risk of disability from vision loss increases. Without prevention and treatment of eye diseases, older people potentially face decades of life with disability from avoidable vision loss. In addition, older people with vision loss may be at a higher risk of premature death, than those with good eye health. ⁽¹²⁾

Impact of vision loss on older people

Vision loss and blindness are known to have an *accumulative negative* impact on quality of life of older people.⁽⁸⁾

Blindness and vision loss adversely affect the productivity of older people through premature retirement or inability to work and reduced ability to contribute to family life such as cooking and caring for grandchildren. ⁽¹¹⁾ For many, this loss of vision and productivity starts from the age of 50-60 years.

In low income countries, older people tend to live with their extended family and the role of caring for a disabled older relative, along with the financial costs, falls largely on family members.⁽¹⁰⁾ The costs include the lost earnings of working age carers and the disrupted education of child aged carers.

Vision impairment is associated with increased falls, nursing home placement and decreased life expectancy among older people, even in high income countries. ^{(12) (18)}

Impact of vision loss on ageing

Ageing and vision loss have a compounding impact that reduces quality of life, including through:

- loss of income and productivity ⁽¹¹⁾
- increased risk of falling over ⁽¹⁸⁾
- reduced life expectancy ⁽¹²⁾
- ✤ co-morbidity with other chronic diseases ^{(48) (26)}
- reduced ability to access health services (10) (47)
- increased risk of depression and loss of self esteem ^{(11) (22) (49)}
- loss of independence for self-care, daily activities and mobility ^{(11) (49)}
- reduced social interaction ^{(11) (49)}
- greater likelihood to have pain and discomfort.^{(8).}



Eye health as an indicator of disability among older populations

The relationship between eye health and healthy ageing was recently recognised by the World Health Organization and the World Bank, when they included Cataract Surgical Coverage^{*} among a set of global indicators for tracking world progression toward universal health coverage. Cataract Surgical Coverage was included as an indicator "of disability among older adults and access to care by the elderly" as well as an indicator of the progress toward eliminating avoidable blindness. ⁽⁴⁴⁾

* the rate at which people with cataract vision loss receive surgical treatment

Barriers for older people in accessing eye health care

In low income countries of Africa and Southeast Asia, 61% of older people, aged 60 plus years, have never had an eye exam, compared with just 5% in high income countries.⁽¹⁹⁾

There are numerous barriers that inhibit people of all ages from accessing eye health care in LMICs, in particular, the cost of treatment, a lack of local eye health services, and difficulties with transport. Some barriers, however, are experienced differently or to a greater extent by older people, particularly the very elderly and older women. ⁽¹⁰⁾ Barriers include:

- older people's expectations of their own health and abilities can be lowered with ageing and thus they may be less motivated to attend to their eye health ⁽¹⁰⁾ (²⁰⁾
- older people in LMICs are amongst the poorest and are often financially dependent on other family members⁽²¹⁾⁽²²⁾
- lower levels of literacy and education among older people negatively impacts on their awareness of eye disease prevention and treatments ^{(19) (21)}

- older people are not seen as a priority for health care in poor households and they can be unwilling to use scarce family income to pay for their eye health treatment. Both direct costs of surgery and indirect costs, such as transport and the loss of income for a family member to accompany them, may discourage older people from seeking treatment ^{(22) (21)}
- belief that blindness is an inevitable part of ageing ⁽⁸⁾
- the relationship between vision loss and reduced quality of life is often overlooked for older people, as is the link between vision loss and depression ⁽⁸⁾
- discrimination by health services and doctors on the basis of age and belief that illness is inevitable and treatment unlikely to be effective.
 (23)

Co-morbidity is the experience of more than one illness or health problem by a person at the same time. Co-morbidity of vision loss with other illnesses or physical disabilities works as a barrier to accessing eye health. ^{(10) (21) (24)} For example, co-morbidities:

- add to the difficulty for mobility and the need for assistance to attend eye health care clinics
- reduce an older person's strength and physical capacity to undergo eye surgery or treatment and to self-administer eye-drops or other medications
- may lessen the priority of eye health compared to other health issues and makes seeking eye care more effortful. ^{(10) (21) (24)}

Chronic disease, vision loss and healthy ageing

Older people are more likely to be affected by chronic disease in addition to vision loss, resulting in a greater impact on their quality of life and independence. The more health problems a person has, or co-morbidities, the more likely that they will have reduced functional ability for self-care and a reduced sense of wellbeing. (23) (25)

Older people with vision loss report reduced quality of life and the combination of vision loss and other



health problems in ageing places extra burden on older people and a more rapid decline in their quality of life. ⁽²⁵⁾

Recent research shows that vision loss as a comorbidity with other chronic illness, such as stroke, heart disease and depression, magnifies the negative impact of the illness on quality of life. ⁽²⁶⁾ Hence, while it can be difficult to pinpoint which health issue is the main cause of disability, ⁽²⁷⁾ it is likely that treating eye disease is important to avoid the complications of vision loss on top of other chronic illnesses. Restoring sight may also provide renewed mobility and opportunity to seek health care for other chronic illnesses.

With improvements in health care there is likely to be a rise in the number of much older people (85 years plus). These much older people are more likely again to be affected by multiple chronic illnesses as well as vision loss, such as hypertension, diabetes and heart disease. Much older cataract patients are more likely to also be affected by age-related macular degeneration or glaucoma and this may contribute to a poor outcome for cataract surgery. ⁽²⁸⁾ However, a study of people aged 90 years and older in Hong Kong found that 4 out of 5 people had improved visual acuity outcomes after cataract surgery, despite the high prevalence of other eye health problems along with cataract.⁽²⁹⁾ The eye health sector's response to and treatment of much older patients will become more important as this section of the population grows, particularly in middle income countries.

Gender, ageing and eye health

Globally, women are 1.5 times more likely to be affected by vision loss than men. ⁽⁴⁾ Women account for 63% of the 16.8 million people aged 70 or over, who are blind worldwide, and 60% of the visually impaired. ⁽⁴⁾ This gender imbalance is explained by several factors including: women live longer than men; longer life expectancy increases the risk of agerelated eye diseases; older women are often carers of grandchildren and thus have more exposure to eye infections carried by children, such as trachoma; and women face unique and additional barriers to accessing eye health care services in many parts of the world, particularly in poor regions. $^{(30)}(^{31})(^{32})$

Older women with blindness in LMICs face compounding obstacles to receiving eye health care services and treatments, due to their gender roles and restrictions, discriminations based on age, and poverty. Many of the barriers that stop people from having good eye sight affect older women to a greater extent than older men due to their lower social support, less access to family money, reluctance to be a burden on their family and less decision making authority. ⁽²¹⁾ ⁽²²⁾

Benefits of eye health care to healthy ageing

Treatment of eye diseases such as cataract and trachoma have been repeatedly shown as highly cost-effective interventions that reduce the burden of disability and improve the productivity and quality of life of older people. ^{(33) (34) (5)}

Restoring vision through cataract surgery has also been shown to reduce the rate of older people falling over, particularly for women undergoing cataract surgery in the first eye. ⁽³⁵⁾ A study in Vietnam found the number of older people reporting that they had fallen was reduced from 12.8% before cataract surgery to 6.7% in the year after cataract surgery. ⁽³⁶⁾ A systematic review in Australia found that early treatment of cataracts was among the most costeffective of interventions to prevent falls among older people living at home. ⁽³⁷⁾ Furthermore, a global analysis of the cost-benefits of eliminating avoidable blindness suggests that in excess of USD 4.1 billion in savings could be made by avoiding the health costs of falls each year. ⁽³⁸⁾

Treatment of avoidable blindness also preserves people's independence, reducing the need for assistance and carers. ^{(33) (11)} The structure of families and living arrangements in many LMICs is changing due to decreased fertility and family size, and the increased migration of younger people to cities. This means that many older people will age without care and support from extended family. ^{(39) (3)} Health planners are starting to look at ways to safeguard



people's *functioning* as they age and to enable them to stay in their homes and communities. ⁽³⁹⁾

Maintaining functioning and productivity is a critical benefit of eye health care in older people. ⁽¹¹⁾ For example, the average age of farmers in Kenya is now 60 years, due to movement of younger people to cities and their preference for work other than farming. Similarly, in the urban slums of Kenya, 30% of older women and 20% of older men look after children. ⁽⁴⁰⁾ Thus, eye sight is vital to older people's continued productivity in paid and unpaid work, and the burden of lost productivity from vision loss is largely in LMICs. ⁽³⁸⁾

Aged care residential facilities and eye eye health

There is little information about the eye health situation within aged care residential facilities in LMICs, which may reflect fewer numbers of such facilities in these countries and a lack of information about resident's eye health within the facilities that do exist.

A 2012 study investigated the eye health of residents living in seven aged care facilities in Kathmandu Valley, Nepal, and found very high prevalence of vision problems. Forty-four percent of residents were affected by visual impairment or blindness, largely due to cataract, age related macular degeneration, corneal opacity, glaucoma and macular scarring. Uncorrected or poorly corrected refractive error was also a significant cause of vision loss. The study found a lack of vision screening in the aged care facilities and inadequate provision of glasses or referral for cataract surgery. ⁽⁴¹⁾

Studies in high income countries have also found a higher prevalence of visual impairment among residents of aged care facilities compared to older people living in communities. ⁽⁴²⁾ There is debate around vision impairment as a contributor to residential care admission and whether eye care treatments would avoid people entering residential care. ⁽⁴³⁾ Some studies suggest that vision status alone does not determine residential care admission, but rather vision loss occurs alongside other health

problems as people age and their ability to care for themselves decreases. There is a suggestion that part of the higher prevalence of visual impairment in residential care facilities may be attributed to specific barriers for residents to access eye treatments including a reluctance of carers to agree to surgical interventions, even when eye care screening is available in the facility. ⁽⁴³⁾

Conclusion

As the size of the older population grows and life expectancy lengthens, national health systems will need to invest in interventions that improve the health and well-being of older people, particularly interventions that address chronic disease and prevent or delay disability. ⁽³⁾

National and international eye health programs make an important contribution to avoiding the burden of disability and improving the productivity and wellbeing of older populations. The benefits of preserving and restoring vision to older people are measureable and substantial for individuals, communities and national economies.

Bibliography

1. *Health in an ageing world - what do we know?* **Suzman, R, et al.** February 14, 2015, The Lancet, Vol. 385, pp. 484-486.

2. United Nations. Population by age, sex, region. *World Population Prospects 2015 Revision: Interactive data acquired via website.* November 17, 2015.

3. *Macroeconomic implications of population ageing and selected policy responses.* **Bloom, DE, et al.** 9968, February 14, 2015, The Lancet, Vol. 385, pp. 649-657.

4. *Global Prevalence of Vision Impairment and Blindness Magnitude and Temporal Trends, 1990-2010.* **Stevens, Gretchen A, et al.** 12, December 2013, Journal of Ophthalmology, Vol. 120, pp. 2377-2384.

5. Cost effectiveness of strategies to combat vision and hearing loss in sub-Saharan Africa and South East Asia: mathematical modelling study. Baltussen, R and Smith, A. 2012, BMJ Online, Vol. 344, p. e615.

6. **Taylor, Kate.** *The Global Burden of Disease 2010 Study.* IAPB Briefing Paper, International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness. December 2012.

7. World Health Organisation. World Report on Disability 2011. Geneva : s.n., 2011.

8. International Federation on Ageing. *The High Cost of Low Vision: The evidence on Ageing and Loss of Sight.* 2012.

 World Health Organisation. Prevention of Blindness from Diabetes Mellitus: a report of a WHO consultation in Geneva Switzerland. 2006. A report of a WHO consultation in Geneva Switzerland 11 November 2005.
 Eye care for older people. Evans, Jennifer. 66, June 2008, Community Eye Health Journal, Vol. 21, pp. 21-23.



11. *Restoring Sight: how cataract surgery improves the lives of older adults.* **Polack, Sarah.** 66, June 2008, Community Eye Health Journal, Vol. 21, pp. 24-25.

12. Correction of Visual Impairment by Cataract Surgery and Improved Survival in Older Persons: The Blue Mountains Eye Study Cohort. Sze-un Fong, Calvin, et al. 9, September 2013, Vol. 120.

13. Number of people blind or visually impaired by cataract worldwide and in world regions, 1990 to 2010. Khairallah, M, et al. 2015, Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. , Vol. 56, pp. 6762-6769.

14. **United Nations.** *World Population Prospects: Key findings and advance tables.* Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. 2015. Working paper No. ESA/P/WP.241.

15. —. World Populations Prospects 2015 Revision. *Life expectancy by age by region: Interactive tables downloaded from website.* September 8, 2015.

16. *Health, functioning and disability in older adults - present status and future implications.* **Chatterji, S, et al.** 9968, 2015, The Lancet, Vol. 385, pp. 563-575.

17. World Health Organisation. Draft 0: Global Strategy and Action Plan on Ageing and Health. Ageing and Life Course, WHO. 2015. Web Based Consultation - August thru October 2015.

18. *Eye Care in the Elderly*. **Green, C, Goodfellow, J and Kubie, J.** 7, July 2014, Australian Family Physician, Vol. 43, pp. 447- 450.

19. Eye care utilisation by older adults in low, middle and high income countries. Vela, C, et al. 5, s.l. : BioMed Central, 2012, BMC Opthalmology, Vol. 12.

20. *Delivery of eye care to the elderly: practical considerations*. **Wormald, Richard.** 29, 1999, Community Eye Health Journal, Vol. 12, pp. 6-7.

21. *Helping older people get the eye care they need*. **Nkumbe, Henry.** 66, 2008, Community Eye Health Journal, Vol. 21, pp. 26-28.

22. The social and family dynamics behind the uptake of cataract surgery: findings from Kilimanjaro Region, Tanzania. **Geneau, R, et al.** 2005, British Journal of Ophthalmology, Vol. 89, pp. 1399-1402.

23. *The burden of disease in older people and implications for health policy and practice.* **Prince, M, et al.** February 7, 2015, The Lancet, Vol. 385, pp. 549-559.

24. *A holistic approach to eye care for older people*. **Dey, AB, Lindfield, Robert and Goel, Ashish.** 66, June 2008, Community Eye Health Journal, Vol. 21, pp. 31-32.

25. Co-morbidity and visual acuity are risk factors for health-realted quality of life decline: five-month follow-up Eq-5D data of visually impaired older patients. van Nispen, RMA, et al. 18, s.l. : BioMed Central, 2009, Health and Quality of Life Outcomes , Vol. 7.

26. Extent of exacerbation of chronic health conditions by visual impairment in terms of health-related quality of life. **Park, SJ, et al.** September 17, 2015, JAMA Ophthalmology Online.

27. *The contributions of disease to disability burden among the elderly population in China*. **Chen, He, et al.** 2014, Journal of aging and health, Vol. 26, pp. 261-282.

28. Effect of increasing age on cataract surgery outcomes in very elderly patients. Wong, TY. 2001, BMJ, Vol. 322, pp. 1104-1106.

 Clinical outcomes of cataract surgery in very elderly adults. Lai, FHP, et al. 2014, Journal of American Geriatrics Society, Vol. 62, pp. 165-170.
 Increasing uptake of eye care services by women. Lewallen, S and Courtright, P. December 2006, CEHJ, Vol. 19, p. 59.

31. Improving gender equity in eye care: advocating for the needs of women. Courtright, P and Lewallen, S. Dec 2007, CEHJ, Vol. 20, p. 68.

32. The Carter Centre and Kilimanjaro Centre for Community Ophthalmology. *Women and Trachoma*. 2009.

33. Danquah, L, Polack, S and Kuper, H. *The Cataract Impact Study: Six Year Follow Up Summary Report.* s.l. : International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, 2013.

34. Use of Global Visual Acuity Data in a Time Trade-off Approach to Calculate the Cost Utility of Cataract Surgery. Lansingh, VC and Carter, MJ. September 2009, Archives of Ophthal, Vol. 127, pp. 1183-1193.

35. Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the

community. **Gillespie, LD, et al.** 9, 2015, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews.

36. A longitudinal cohort study of the impact of first- and both-eye cataract surgery on falls and other injuries in Vietnam. **Gia To, K, et al.** 2014, Clinical Interventions in Aging , Vol. 9, pp. 743-751.

37. **Church, J, et al.** An economic evaluation of community and residential aged care falls prevention strategies in NSW. NSW Ministry of Health. Sydney : s.n., 2011.

38. **PriceWaterhouseCoopers.** Investing in Vision - Comparing the costs and benefits of eliminating avoidable blindness and visual impairment. 2013.

39. Towards a comprehensive public health response to population ageing. Beard, JR and Bloom, DE. 9968, February 14, 2015, The Lancet, Vol. 385, pp. 658-661.

40. Older people's health in sub-saharan Africa. . Aboderin, IAG and Beard, J. 9968, February 14, 2015, The Lancet, Vol. 385.

41. Visual impairment and blindness among Nepalese older adults living in residential care. **Dev, KM, et al.** 4, s.l. : 18th Pacific Optometry Conference Supplement, July 2012, Clinical and Experiemental Optometry, Vol. 95, pp. e1-e31.

42. National Ageing Research Institute and Centre for Eye Research

Australia. Environment and vision optimisation in residential care (EnVORC). National Ageing Research Institute and Centre for Eye Research Australia. 2009.

43. *Risk of admission to a nursing home among older people with visual impairment in Great Britain.* **Evans, JR, Smeeth, L and Fletcher, AE.** 10, October 2008, Arch Ophthalmol, Vol. 126, pp. 1428-1433.

44. WHO and World Bank. Tracking universal health coverage: First global monitoring report. June 2015.

45. *Causes of vision loss worldwide, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis.* **Bourne, R, Stevens, G and White, RA.** 6, December 2013, The Lancet: Global Health, Vol. 1, pp. e339-349.

46. Global estimates of visual impairment 2010. Pascolini, D and Mariotti,
5, 2012, British Journal of Ophthalmology, Vol. 96, pp. 614-618.
47. Gooding, Kate. Poverty and Blindness: a survey of the literature.

Sightsavers International. February 2006.

48. **Nispen, Ruth, et al.** Co-morbidity and visual acuity are risk factors for health-related quality of life decline: five-month follow-up EQ-5D data of visually impaired older patients. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes.* s.l. : BioMed Central, 2009. Vol. 7, 18.

49. Impact of age related macular degeneration on quality of life. Hassell, J B, Lamoureux, E L and Keeffe, J E. 2006, British Journal of Ophthalmology, Vol. 90, pp. 593-596.

50. **World Health Organisation**. Definition of an older or elderly person. *Health statistics and health information systems WHO*. [Online] Publication date unknown. [Cited: November 17, 2015.]

http://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/ageingdefnolder/en/.

